ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PK VENTURES, INC., and
ROBERT L. ROSE, THOMAS F. KANE,
LOUIS KRUTOY, ROBERT F. GRIMMIG,
JOSEPH F. MANNELLO, JOEL A.
MARSHALL, THOMAS F. KANE, JR.,
G. CLIFFORD MCCARTHY,
and FRANCIS J. CEROSKY,

Petitioners,

v.

CASE NO. 87,404

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The petitioners, PK Ventures, Inc., et al., (sometimes referred to in this brief as "the investors") filed this action against Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (Raymond James) in 1991 in the Circuit Court in and for Hillsborough County. (R-1-45) [Record citations in this brief will generally be in the form (R-); provided that certain portions of the trial testimony have been indexed by their transcript page numbers, and citations to those portions will be in the form (T-). Furthermore, those documents included within the appendix to this brief will be referenced as (A-[tab no.]).] The investors' complaint alleged that Raymond James' misrepresentations induced them to purchase the stock of Zephyr Rock & Lime, Inc. (Zephyr), a company which owned a limerock mine located in Pasco County, Florida. The misrepresentations were contained in a document prepared by Raymond James entitled "Confidential Memorandum." (R-4694-4730)

The complaint contained three counts based on fraudulent misrepresentation, negligent misrepresentation and negligence, respectively. (R-1-45) The focal point of the investors' claims was that Raymond James misrepresented the quality of Zephyr's limestone reserves. Specifically, the Confidential Memorandum prepared by Raymond James assured its readers in unequivocal terms that first-hand investigation, testing, and analysis of core drilling samples had proven that the vast majority of Zephyr's reserves were of aggregate quality. (R-4700) In fact, only a

relatively small portion of Zephyr's reserves constituted aggregate quality limestone.

Raymond James filed a motion to dismiss the complaint based on its assertion that a disclaimer contained within the Confidential Memorandum defeated any claims against Raymond James as a matter of law. (R-46-48) The motion to dismiss also contained the following sentence: "Plaintiffs' claims for negligent misrepresentation and negligence should be dismissed insofar as they are claims against a party not in privity with plaintiffs." (R-46-48) (The foregoing assertion was not directed to the investors' fraud claim). Raymond James did not include the economic loss rule as a basis for its motion to dismiss. The motion to dismiss was denied. (R-49)

Raymond James never raised the economic loss rule before the trial court notwithstanding the fact that it had filed the above-referenced motion to dismiss (R-46-48), an answer and affirmative defenses (R-50-53), amended affirmative defenses (R-452-457), a motion for judgment on the pleadings/motion for summary judgment (R-90-94) and two additional motions for summary judgment (R-79-505; 2025-2041), made an oral motion for directed verdict during trial (T-538-542), and filed post-trial motions. (R-2353-2360) The first time Raymond James ever alluded to the economic loss rule was in its initial brief filed before the Second District Court of Appeal on or about June 1, 1995.

The investors' claims were tried before a jury beginning on August 22, 1994. (T-1) On August 31, 1994 the case was submitted to the jury on the fraud and negligent misrepresentation

claims. (T-803-814) The jury returned a verdict in favor of the investors on their negligent misrepresentation claim in the principal sum of \$1 million, but found in favor of Raymond James on the fraud claim. (R-2287-2288) On September 21, 1994, the trial court entered its final judgment in favor of the investors in the amount of \$1,840,000, which included prejudgment interest. (R-2364-2365)

Raymond James filed post-trial motions (R-2353-2363) which were denied by virtue of the trial court's October 20, 1994 order. (R-2422) Subsequently, Raymond James filed its notice of appeal before the Second District Court of Appeal. (R-2423-2427) Thereafter, the investors filed a notice of cross-appeal based on the trial court's refusal to award post-judgment interest on the pre-judgment interest component of the final judgment. (R-2434-2435) As noted in the investors' answer brief before the Second District Court of Appeal, the investors filed that cross-appeal with the hope that the conflict among the District Courts of Appeal on this interest issue would have been resolved by the Supreme Court of Florida by the time the appeal was decided. Because it had not been resolved, and because the trial court's ruling was in conformance with the view of the Second District Court of Appeal, the investors did not argue the issue before the appellate court. See Answer Brief [DCA], page 1, note 1. (A-1)^{1/}

^{1/} The undersigned understands that this issue is presently pending before this Court in Central Bank of the South v. Seppala & Aho Construction Company, Inc., et al., Case No. 86-556. In the event this Court rules in that case that post-judgment interest does accrue on a prejudgment interest component of a judgment, and

The Second District Court of Appeal heard argument in Raymond James' appeal on November 7, 1995. Subsequent to that oral argument, and on November 17, 1995, the Second District Court of Appeal decided Woodson v. Martin, 663 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) which held that the economic loss rule barred claims based on fraudulent inducement. Thereafter, on December 6, 1995, the Second District Court of Appeal reversed the jury's verdict in this case based solely and expressly on Woodson. Raymond James & Associates, Inc. v. PK Ventures, Inc., et al., 666 So. 2d 174 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). In doing so, it observed that the "only difference" between Woodson and this case is that this case involved commercial property, and found that this difference was of "no significance." Id. at 174.

The investors filed a motion for rehearing and for rehearing en banc on December 18, 1995, suggesting that the Second District Court of Appeal overlooked the fact that Raymond James never raised the economic loss rule at trial and thus, did not preserve the issue for appeal. (A-2) The motion argued, alternatively, that application of the economic loss rule to misrepresentation claims should not be applied retroactively. (A-2) The Second District Court of Appeal denied the motion for rehearing and for rehearing en banc on January 17, 1996. (A-3) The investors subsequently

^{1/} (cont'd)

in the event the judgment in favor of the investors is reinstated, the investors would request that this Court direct that the judgment be amended accordingly.

filed their notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. INTRODUCTION

This case comes before this Court upon the reversal of a jury verdict by the Second District Court of Appeal. The Second District, however, did not pass upon any disputed factual issues. Instead, it reversed the jury verdict based on its view of the economic loss rule. Because the jury returned a verdict in favor of the investors on their negligent misrepresentation claim, the applicable standard of review would require that the verdict be reinstated if there is any competent evidence to support it. See generally Florida Dept. of Transportation v. Raiche, 527 So. 2d 842, 845 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), rev. denied, 534 So. 2d 401 (Fla. 1988). Thus, the investors set forth this Statement of Facts in conformance with that standard of review.

The investors were induced to purchase the stock of a limestone mining company by virtue of misrepresentations communicated to them by Raymond James. The misrepresentations were contained in a document authored by Raymond James entitled "Confidential Memorandum." The Confidential Memorandum is a facially impressive bound document, and its 29 pages of text include detailed, site specific information and representations regarding Zephyr. (R-4694-4730)

The most serious misrepresentation and the focal point of the trial concerned the quality of limestone reserves at Zephyr Rock & Lime, Inc. (Zephyr), a limestone mine located in Pasco County. Specifically, the Confidential Memorandum stated that it was proven

that the vast majority of Zephyr's reserves consisted of high-value aggregates (R-4700) when, in fact, a substantial majority of the reserves were of inferior quality and would yield a low-value product. A chronology of the events leading to the investors' purchase of Zephyr's stock, as reflected by the evidence at trial, follows.

B. BACKGROUND

Prior to August, 1987, the Zephyr mine was operated and primarily owned by Eli Mills (Mills). (T-543-544) Mills envisioned operating the mine on two tracts of land, one of which Zephyr owned (sometimes referred to herein as "the owned property"), and one of which, at that time, it leased (sometimes referred to herein as "the leased property"). (R-4697) The only active mining occurred on the owned property. (R-4697)

In general, limestone mines produce one of two products - aggregates or roadbase. Aggregate products are far more valuable than roadbase. Aggregates are produced by mining the raw material, crushing it, and separating the resulting limestone rocks according to size. (R-3087-3215, at pages 5-8) This process generates a by-product known as "fines" (T-237) which consist of very small particles of limestone. (R-5122) Fines are sometimes broken down into two subcategories: (1) fines, and (2) ultra-fines or slimes. Ultra-fines or slimes are a waste product; fines also constitute a waste product although at times there is a limited market for them. (R-5170; T-264-265)

In contrast to an aggregate mining operation, a roadbase operation involves mining the raw material and crushing it so that the largest pieces are no larger than 3½ inches in diameter. (R-5071) This process does not involve the separation of the product into different size rocks (R-5071) and results in virtually all of the mined material being combined into one product, roadbase. (T-261-262)^{2/}

Mills operated the Zephyr mine since approximately 1984. (R-4697) During his ownership of the mine, he restructured the processing plant to produce solely aggregates. (R-4720) Zephyr, however, encountered financial difficulties and supposedly needed additional capital. (T-544) Consequently, Mills decided to sell the mine. (T-544)

C. RAYMOND JAMES' INVOLVEMENT

In 1986, Mills engaged Raymond James to assist in selling the mine. The September 8, 1986 engagement letter between Mills and Raymond James set forth Raymond James' responsibilities which included the preparation of a "descriptive memorandum" and the negotiation of the terms and conditions of any bona fide offers. (R-3218-3220) The engagement letter also provided for Raymond James' fee to be contingent upon the consummation of a transaction with the amount of the fee to be based upon a percentage of the total transaction value. Based on the ultimate transaction value

^{2/} It is possible to run a hybrid mine where the primary product is roadbase but a small percentage of large rocks are separated from the roadbase in order to produce a limited amount of aggregates. In fact, this is the type of operation which is currently conducted at Zephyr's former site. (T-691-693)

of \$8 million (R-5151), Raymond James' fee would have been one and one-half percent of that amount, i.e., \$120,000.

The engagement letter was signed on behalf of Raymond James by Ronald Miller, Senior Vice President of Raymond James. A Raymond James associate, Andrew Duffy, actually prepared the descriptive memorandum which was ultimately entitled "Confidential Memorandum." (T-641)

Raymond James' role was far more than that of a passive conveyor of information from the seller to potential buyers. Roger Carolin, Zephyr's vice-president and operating officer (T-637-639) testified that he provided information to Duffy and Duffy then prepared the Confidential Memorandum. (T-641) Thus, Duffy determined what information to include in the Confidential Memorandum. Indeed, Carolin testified that Zephyr had only minor comments regarding the Confidential Memorandum and that Raymond James did not give Zephyr the option of approving the Confidential Memorandum as "it was their documents [sic]." (T-642-643)

Duffy actually calculated the amount of minable reserves that was included in the Confidential Memorandum. (T-629-630) He also mathematically calculated the depth of the overburden reflected by various geological data. (T-294) The depth of overburden was significant because overburden must be removed before an operator can mine the limestone, and the cost to remove overburden was a "material component of the total cost of mining." (T-292) Duffy also investigated the quality of the limestone reserves. He interviewed various limerock producers in Florida, and was told,

among other things that the limestone at Zephyr was more suitable for roadbase. (T-289) He also gathered information from Zephyr's management regarding the amount of ultra-fines generated. (T-128) Most importantly, Duffy also reviewed various geological reports, (T-538) including a February, 1984 Zellars-Williams report (R-3087-3215) which stated at page 3-12 that the rock at Zephyr was generally soft although "possibly as much as 35% will be available for specification or non-specification aggregate." (emphasis added) Page 4-1 of that report reiterated that in the area of Zephyr, "the limestone has been recrystallized and is therefore too soft for use as aggregate." Although the report concerned only the owned property, Duffy knew of no geologist's report which contradicted the Zellars-Williams report with regard to either the owned or leased property by stating that the vast majority of Zephyr's reserves were of aggregate quality. (T-247)

Notwithstanding the information Duffy reviewed, Raymond James included in its Confidential Memorandum as one of the five principal "acquisition merits" the following bold and unequivocal assertion (R-4700):

First hand investigation and testing (in addition to analysis of core drilling samples) has proven that the vast majority of the Company's reserves are of aggregate quality. Although the Company has been certified by the Florida Department of Transportation as a source for limerock roadbase, current production of the quarry is devoted entirely to higher-margin aggregates. (emphasis added)

The importance of this statement cannot be over-emphasized. As reflected by the information at pages 21-23 of the Confidential Memorandum (R-4714-4716), the price range of the

aggregate products (identified as No. 4 aggregate, No. 57 aggregate, No. 89 aggregate and block screenings) ranged from \$6.75 to \$7.50 per ton. Roadbase, on the other hand, sold for \$3.25 a ton, less than one-half of the average sales price for aggregates.

Raymond James' assurance that the Zephyr mine was predominantly an aggregate mine was emphatically and repeatedly advanced elsewhere in the Confidential Memorandum. For example, in addition to the statement quoted above from the "Acquisition Merits" portion of the Confidential Memorandum, the Confidential Memorandum further stated:

1. "The cornerstone of the Company's marketing strategy has been to concentrate on the higher priced (and higher margin) products, namely the aggregates." Confidential Memorandum, page 17. (R-4710)

2. "Although the Company is an approved Florida DOT source for limerock roadbase, management plans to continue devoting the mine's entire production to the higher margin aggregates until the demand for those products is met." Confidential Memorandum, page 18. (R-4711)

3. "Although Zephyr Rock & Lime is a Florida DOT approved source for roadbase, it does not currently produce that material because the financial yields are greater with its current product mix which consumes all of its production capacity." Confidential Memorandum, page 20. (R-4713)

Although the Confidential Memorandum contained a "boilerplate" disclaimer (R-4695),^{3/} the disclaimer was not directed to any

^{3/} The disclaimer stated: "Zephyr Rock & Lime, Inc. has made every effort to provide accurate information and believes the information contained herein to be accurate, but Zephyr Rock & Lime, Inc. does not otherwise make any representation or warranty regarding the accuracy or completeness of such information and no other party has authority to do so on its behalf. All such information is subject to your written verification. Raymond James & Associates, Inc. has not independently verified any of such

particular representations and did not purport to relieve Raymond James from responsibility for conveying information which it knew or should have known was false. Moreover, Duffy acknowledged that "the ultimate responsibility and decision for what was in the document rested with Raymond James in that it is our document" (T-237) and that all of the contents of the Confidential Memorandum, including the assurance that the vast majority of the Company's reserves were of aggregate quality, had been approved by Raymond James. (T-252, 282) Duffy also recognized that Raymond James' reputation was behind the Confidential Memorandum and admitted that potential investors would place some weight on Raymond James' name in investigating the investment. (T-234-235)

Raymond James prepared the Confidential Memorandum during 1986. It developed an "A" list and a "B" list of potential buyers and forwarded the memorandum primarily to those entities on the "A" list which expressed an interest in the investment. (T-316-318; 325-326) During these solicitation efforts, several of the potential buyers made negative remarks regarding the mine, particularly the quality of the reserves. (T-318-321) After these solicitation efforts failed, Raymond James' activity temporarily subsided. (T-326-327) Thereafter, in 1987, Raymond James resumed

3/(cont'd)

information and makes no representation or warranty regarding the accuracy or completeness of such information, and no other party has authority to do so on its behalf. Any reproduction or distribution of this memorandum, in whole or part, or the divulgence of any of its contents without the prior written consent of Raymond James & Associates, Inc. is prohibited." (R-4695)

an active role in the Zephyr project in a manner that substantially, and adversely, affected the investors.

D. THE AUGUST, 1987 STOCK PURCHASE TRANSACTION

The events leading to the stock purchase transaction were put into motion when Robert L. Rose (Rose), who then resided and worked in New Jersey, wrote a letter to Raymond James in April, 1987 seeking investment opportunities. (R-5097-5098) That letter was evidently forwarded to Duffy who, on May 13, 1987, sent Rose the Confidential Memorandum. (R-5099-5100)

Rose was president of PK Ventures, Inc. (PK Ventures). (R-5097) He also acted on behalf of the group of the individual investors (who were shareholders in PK Ventures) as their authorized agent in connection with this investment. (R-5133)^{4/} Rose was the principal of the group and the other individuals were passive investors who relied upon Rose's recommendation to purchase the Zephyr stock. (See generally deposition testimony of investors at T-468-525; see also Rose testimony at R-5341) The individual investors did not personally investigate the attributes of the mine.^{5/}

Upon his review of the Confidential Memorandum, Rose became interested in Zephyr as a potential investment. He spoke with

^{4/} The stock purchase agreement was executed by Rose on behalf of PK Ventures, Inc. on August 20, 1987 and was immediately assigned to the individual investors, including Rose, so that Zephyr could maintain its sub-chapter S status. (R-5150)

^{5/} The plaintiffs in this case were PK Ventures and all of the individual investors, except Amos T. Beason, a minor investor. (T-427)

Duffy to arrange a meeting (R-5101) and, on May 28, 1987, met with Duffy and Roger Carolin, Zephyr's Vice-President, in Largo. (R-5101-5102) Duffy and Carolin gave Rose certain documents, including geological information, but they did not give him the February 1984 Zellars-Williams report, which disclosed in plain English that the mine's reserves contained no more than 35% aggregates. (R-5112-5116)

They also gave Rose a document entitled "Pro Forma Income Statement." (R-5112) That document reflected, among other things, an assumption that the mine would yield 48% fines. Rose was told at the time of the May 28 meeting and during his visit to the mine on the following day that the assumption was based on a previously abandoned method of excavation which had generated more fines than the current method. Specifically, Rose was told that Zephyr had previously excavated material using a dredge, which generated excess fines. Therefore, Zephyr changed its excavating method. (R-5108-5110; 5121-5122; 5138; see also Confidential Memorandum, R-4694-4730, at page 26)

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