IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PK VENTURES, INC., and)
ROBERT L. ROSE, THOMAS F. KANE,)
LOUIS KRUTOY, ROBERT F. GRIMMIG,)
JOSEPH F. MANNELLO, JOEL A.)
MARSHALL, THOMAS F. KANE, JR.,)
G. CLIFFORD McCARTHY,)
and FRANCIS J. CEROSKY,)
Petitioners,))
v.	CASE NO. 87,404
RAYMOND JAMES & ASSOCIATES, INC.,	
Respondent.)))

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Guy M. Burns
Florida Bar No. 160901
Bruce W. Barnes
Florida Bar No. 503312
JOHNSON, BLAKELY, POPE,
BOKOR, RUPPEL & BURNS, P.A.
Post Office Box 1100
Tampa, FL 33601-1100
(813) 225-2500
(813) 223-7118 (Fax)
Attorneys for Appellant

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal properly reversed the judgment and verdict in favor of the Investors. In this action against Raymond James, the Investors were seeking damages for "disappointed economic expectations" in connection with their purchase of Zephyr. This case fits squarely within the economic loss rule, and the Second District was correct in holding that the economic loss rule doctrine, when applied to the facts of this case, precluded the Investors' claim for negligent misrepresentation against Raymond James.

This is not a fraud in the inducement case. The jury found in favor of Raymond James on the fraud count. The jury only found in favor of the Investors on their negligent misrepresentation claim. Every district court of appeal in Florida which has recently had the occasion to consider the issue of whether the economic loss rule precludes a claim for negligent misrepresentation, in a commercial setting, has concluded that the doctrine does, in fact, preclude such a claim. There are limited exceptions to this view, none of which are applicable to the instant action.

As this Court and the district courts have suggested, buyers, particularly those in a commercial setting, can protect themselves through contract. That is exactly what the Investors in this case did, but they could have done more. Perhaps most significantly, the Investors hired two geologists to conduct geological due diligence with regard to Zephyr. Additionally, the Investors sought and secured representations and warranties from the Seller, Mills. Raymond James was never asked to represent or warrant the quality of Zephyr's limestone reserves. In essence, the Investors would have the Court believe that Raymond James guaranteed a certain

level of quality of limestone reserves simply by virtue of the fact that Raymond James prepared a descriptive brochure on Zephyr, a brochure which included a clear and unambiguous disclaimer putting the readers on notice that Raymond James made no representation or warranty. The Investors' claims, if any, lie against the seller, Mills, or against their own geologists.

The Second District Court of Appeal properly considered the economic loss rule argument. Although Raymond James did not artfully raise the doctrine when it filed its Motion to Dismiss, it did allege that the Investors failed to state a cause of action against Raymond James on the negligent misrepresentation claim, inasmuch as there was no privity between the parties. After Raymond James filed its appeal, the law was clarified with regard to negligent misrepresentation in a commercial setting absent privity. Thus, the argument was properly considered below.

In its decision, the Second District Court of Appeal did not retroactively abolish the tort of negligent misrepresentation. Negligent misrepresentation remains a viable cause of action, but only under limited factual settings. The uncontroverted facts of this case did not lend themselves to a negligent misrepresentation claim.

Finally, the Investors maintain that there is no other basis for sustaining the reversal of the trial court's judgment. In its opinion, the Second District specifically noted that, given its disposition of the case on the economic loss rule ground, it did not address the other issues raised by Raymond James. Raymond James steadfastly maintained that, under the facts, the Investors could not have justifiably relied on Raymond James Memorandum. The Memorandum contained a clear and unambiguous disclaimer, advising the readers that Raymond James made no representation or warranty. At the letter of intent stage and also in the purchase and sale document Mills, the seller, however, did specifically represent and warrant certain attributes of

Zephyr, including those addressed in the Raymond James Memorandum. Nevertheless, the most significant fact is that the Investors hired two geologists to assist them with the due diligence investigation of the mine. These facts belie any justifiable reliance on a marketing document prepared by non-geologists.

Raymond James also argued below that the verdict and judgment should be reversed on the ground that the Investors failed to prove damages. The Investors never established that they paid too much for Zephyr, either under a benefit of the bargain or out-of-pocket theory of damages. These and other issues were raised below, none of which were addressed by the Second District due to its reversal on the economic loss rule doctrine.

ARGUMENT

I. The Economic Loss Rule Precludes Recovery for Economic Losses in a Contractual Setting.

As Judge Altenbernd of the Second District Court of Appeal observed in his dissenting opinion in Woodson v. Martin, 663 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), there appear to be three different types of scenarios where the economic loss rule is applicable. Id. at 1331. First, there is the situation where a product malfunctions or is defective, but no physical injury or property damage is caused to any property other than the product itself. Casa Clara Condominium Association v. Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc., 620 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 1993). The second scenario is where the parties are in contractual privity. As this Court held in AFM Corporation v. Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Company, 515 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1987), the plaintiff has no negligence claim where there is a contractual remedy, absent some "independent tort." Id. at 181.

The remaining scenario is one such as that in <u>Palau International Traders, Inc. v. Narcam</u>

<u>Aircraft, Inc.</u>, 653 So.2d 412 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). In Palau, there was no privity between the

mechanic for the seller of the aircraft and the plaintiff/buyer of the airplane. <u>Id</u>. The negligence claims asserted against the aircraft mechanic by the buyer, including a negligent misrepresentation claim, were not viable. <u>Id</u>. This action falls into this latter category of economic loss rule cases.

In Casa Clara, this Court observed:

Economic loss has been defined as 'damages for inadequate value, costs of repair and replacement of the defective product, or consequent loss of profits-without any claim of personal injury or damage to other property.' Note, Economic Loss in Products Liability Jurisprudence, 66 Colum. L. Rev. 917, 918 (1966). It includes 'the diminution in the value of the product because it is inferior in quality and does not work for the general purposes for which it was manufactured and sold.' Comment, Manufacturers' Liability to Remote Purchases for "Economic Damages-Tort or Contract?, 114 U. Pa. L. Rev. 539, 541 (1966). In other words, economic losses are 'disappointed economicexpectations,' which are protected by contract law, rather than tort law. (Citations omitted). This is the basic difference between contract law, which protects expectations, and tort law, which is determined by the duty owed to an injured party. For recovery in tort 'there must be a showing of harm above and beyond disappointed expectations. A buyer's desire to enjoy the benefit of his bargain is not an interest that tort law traditionally protects.' Redarowicz v. Ohlendorf, 92 Ill.2d 171, 65 Ill. Dec. 411, 414, 441 N.E.2d 324, 327 (1982).

Casa Clara, 620 So.2d at 1246.

In the instant action, the Investors sought nothing more than economic losses for their alleged "disappointed economic expectations" in connection with their purchase of Zephyr. They sought these economic losses from Raymond James, an investment banking firm with which they had no privity. Raymond James was sued for, *inter alia*, allegedly making negligent misrepresentations in the marketing brochure which Raymond James prepared, a document which clearly and unambiguously advised the Investors that Raymond James made no representation or warranty and further advised the Investors that they needed to secure written verification of any

of the matters included in the marketing document. The Investors did just that by securing express representations and warranties from the seller, Mills, both at the letter of intent stage and in the actual purchase and sale document itself. Further, the Investors independently verified the attributes of the limerock mine by hiring two geologists. This is a case which clearly falls within the economic loss rule. Consequently, the Second District properly considered the matter, and the Second District reached the correct decision in holding that the Investors had no viable negligent misrepresentation claim against Raymond James.

II. The Second District Court of Appeal Properly Considered the Economic Loss Rule Argument.

As they did in the Second District Court of Appeal, the Investors again maintain that Raymond James did not preserve the economic loss rule issue for appeal. (Initial Brief, pp. 26-29). This argument was rejected twice by the Second District, once when the Second District issued its initial opinion, and subsequently when the Second District denied the Investors' Motion for Rehearing. (A.D.-F.).

In its Motion to Dismiss filed in response to the Investors' Complaint, which was denied, Raymond James argued:

Plaintiffs' claims for negligent misrepresentation and negligence should be dismissed insofar as they are claims against a party not in privity with the Plaintiffs.

(R. 47).

Thus, although Raymond James did not expressly use the phrase "economic loss rule" in its Motion to Dismiss, it conceptually raised the doctrine by referencing the fact that there was no privity between Raymond James and the Investors. In the leading economic loss rule opinion in Casa Clara Condominium Association, Inc. v. Charley Toppino and Sons, Inc., 620 So.2d 1244

(Fla. 1993), an opinion which postdated the trial court's denial of Raymond James' Motion to Dismiss, this Court held that homeowners could not recover "purely economic losses" from a concrete supplier with which there was no privity under a negligence theory. <u>Id.</u> at 1245, 1248. Recognizing that the homeowners, in addition to suing the concrete supplier, filed contract actions against a number of other defendants, this Court noted that "the resulting failure to receive the benefit of the bargain is a core concern on contract, not tort, law." 620 So.2d 1246, n. 3, 1247. Thus, the homeowners in <u>Casa Clara</u> had contractual remedies against those with whom they were in privity. There being no privity with the concrete supplier, no viable tort claim existed as to that defendant. 620 So.2d at 1247.

In the case of City of Tampa v. Thorton-Tomasetti, P.C., 646 So.2d 279 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), an opinion which was issued after Raymond James post trial motions were denied by the trial court in this case, the Second District Court of Appeal had the occasion to entertain the issue of whether two professional engineering firms which were not in privity with the City of Tampa could be liable for the economic losses which the City allegedly suffered in connection with the construction of a public building. The City contended Section 552 of the Restatement (2d) of Torts, the restatement section which allows for a negligent misrepresentation claim against a professional, provided an exception to the economic loss rule doctrine. Id. at 281. The Second

In Casa Clara, this Court specifically disapproved of the holdings in Latite Roofing Company v. Urbanek, 528 So.2d 1381 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), Drexel Properties, Inc. v. Bay Colony Club Condominium, Inc., 406 So.2d 515 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), rev. denied, 417 So.2d 328 (Fla. 1982), and Adobe Building Centers, Inc. v. Reynolds, 403 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), rev. dismissed, 411 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1981). In each of those cases, there was an absence of privity between the parties, yet the plaintiffs were nevertheless allowed to pursue negligence claims against the defendants.

District Court of Appeal specifically rejected this argument, and, in doing so, based its decision on the lack of privity between the consulting engineers and the City of Tampa. <u>Id.</u> at 282, 283.

The absence of privity was also a salient fact in the recent case of <u>Palau International Traders</u>, Inc. v. Narcam Aircraft, Inc., 653 So.2d 412 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). Palau International Traders, Inc. ("Palau") purchased a used airplane from International Airlines Holding Corporation ("International"). <u>Id.</u> at 413. Narcam Aircraft, Inc. ("Narcam") was the aircraft mechanic for the seller, International. Prior to the sale of the aircraft, Narcam inspected the plane and verified that it was airworthy, thereby allowing an airworthiness certificate to be issued by the Federal Aviation Administration. <u>Id.</u> at 413, 414. After purchasing the aircraft, Palau experienced problems with the plane, incurring repair costs and allegedly suffering loss of use of the airplane and consequential damages. <u>Id.</u> at 414. Palau then sued Narcam, not only for negligent repair work, but also for negligent misrepresentation regarding the condition of the plane. <u>Id.</u> As did the City of Tampa in <u>Thorton-Tomasetti</u>, <u>supra</u>, Palau argued that Section 552 of the *Restatement (2d) of Torts* was an exception to the economic loss rule under the facts. Rejecting this argument, the Third District opined:

Therefore, we hold as a matter of law that Narcam did not owe the buyer of an airplane with whom it had no privity of contract a duty of care under Section 552. If we held otherwise, 'contract law would drown in a sea of tort.' <u>Casa Clara</u>, 620 So.2d at 1247 (quoting <u>East River</u>, 476 U.S. at 866, 106 S. Ct. at 2299-3000).

Palau, 653 So.2d at 420.

In an even more recent opinion than <u>Palau</u>, the Third District observed:

Florida's long-standing general rule of law is that economic damages are not recoverable in a tort action where there is an absence of privity between a plaintiff and defendant.

Florida Building Inspection Services, Inc. v. Arnold Corporation, 660 So.2d 730, 731 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (citing Casa Clara and other cases for the proposition that negligent misrepresentation claims do not lie where there is an absence of privity).

Thus, the trial court in the instant action erred when it denied Raymond James' Motion to Dismiss the negligent misrepresentation claim. The foregoing authorities, all of which were authored after Raymond James' hearing on its Motion to Dismiss, have solidified and clarified the law insofar as the absence of privity relates to the economic loss rule doctrine. Despite the Investors' contention to the contrary, this Court's recent opinion in Airport Rent-A-Car, Inc. v. Prevost Car, Inc., 660 So.2d 628 (Fla. 1995), by no means supports the view that "the presence or lack of privity generally would have no bearing on whether the economic loss rule applies." (Initial Brief, p. 27). As it did in Casa Clara, this Court in Airport Rent-A-Car held that the economic loss rule precludes a negligence claim in the absence of privity. 660 So.2d at 631. In both Casa Clara and in Airport Rent-A-Car, this Court strictly limited the holding in A.R. Moyer, Inc. v. Graham, 285 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1973), to its facts. 6

Again, given the fact that the absence of privity issue was raised at the motion to dismiss level, it follows that the economic loss rule doctrine was implicitly raised as well. The Investors submit that, even if Raymond James' raising of the absence of privity at the motion to dismiss stage could be deemed the invoking of the economic loss rule, Raymond James waived the doctrine by not moving for a directed verdict on that ground or by raising the issue in a post trial

⁶ In <u>A.R. Moyer</u>, this Court held that a third party general contractor could advance a claim against a negligent architect, notwithstanding the fact that there was no privity between the parties. 285 So.2d at 402. However, in <u>A.R. Moyer</u>, there was such a degree of supervision that the architect maintained over the third party general contractor that this Court deemed it appropriate to allow a negligence action to lie. <u>Id</u>.

motion. (Initial Brief, p. 28). In support of that argument, the Investors cite the unpublished opinion in Cargill, Inc. v. Highland Coin and Jewelry, Inc., 964 F.2d 1146 (11th Cir. 1992), (reported as "AFFIRMED"), a case which is not controlling. In Cargill, however, unlike in the instant action, the district court properly denied the plaintiff's motion to dismiss based on the economic loss theory, as there was then a set of facts in the complaint which could circumvent the doctrine. (A.G., n.1). Further, the Eleventh Circuit otherwise held that the economic loss rule doctrine did not apply in the case. (A.G., p.2). There appears to be no Florida case which would require a defendant who files a motion to dismiss attacking the validity of a cause of action to thereafter raise the issue repeatedly throughout the case in order to preserve the issue for appeal.

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